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Jeffrey A. Silvestri (NV Bar No. 5779) 
MCDONALD CARANO WILSON LLP  
2300 West Sahara Avenue 
Suite 1000 
Las Vegas, NV 89102 
Phone: (702) 873-4100 
Facsimile: (702) 873-9966  
Email:  jsilvestri@mcdonaldcarano.com 
 
Frederick S. Berretta (pro hac vice) 
Peter Law (pro hac vice) 
KNOBBE, MARTENS, OLSON & BEAR, LLP 
12790 El Camino Real 
San Diego, CA  92130 
Phone: (858) 707-4000 
Facsimile:  (858) 707-4001 
Email:  fred.berretta@knobbe.com 
Email:  peter.law@knobbe.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
SILVER STATE INTELLECTUAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
 
 
 
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA 
 
 
 
 
 
SILVER STATE INTELLECTUAL 
TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a Nevada 
corporation,  
 
 Plaintiff and Counterdefendant, 
 
 v. 
 
FOURSQUARE LABS, INC., a Delaware 
corporation,  
 
 Defendant and Counterclaimant. 
 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
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)
)
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COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

Pursuant to the Court’s September 27, 2013, Order (DOC. 60) Plaintiff SILVER 

STATE INTELLECTUAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC., by and through its undersigned 

attorneys, hereby complains of Defendant FOURSQUARE LABS, INC. for infringement of 

the United States Patents identified herein, and files this Third Amended Complaint, and alleges 

as follows: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the 

United States, Title 35, United States Code, and more particularly 35 U.S.C. §§ 271 and 281. 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). 

3. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c), 

and 1400(b). 

THE PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff SILVER STATE INTELLECTUAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 

(hereinafter, “SILVER STATE”) is a Nevada corporation with its principal place of business 

at 9811 Charleston Blvd., #2-787, Las Vegas, Nevada 89117.   

5. SILVER STATE is the owner by assignment of United States Patent No. 

7,343,165, entitled GPS PUBLICATION APPLICATION SERVER, duly and lawfully issued 

on March 11, 2008 (“the ’165 patent”), attached hereto as Exhibit A; among other patents and 

pending patent applications.   

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant FOURSQUARE LABS, INC. 

(hereinafter, “FOURSQUARE LABS”) is a Delaware corporation with a principal place of 

business at 568 Broadway, 10th Floor, New York, New York 10012. 

7. Upon information and belief, FOURSQUARE LABS makes, uses, and 

provides in the United States the “foursquare” brand location-based social networking system 

that SILVER STATE alleges infringes the ’165 patent, as alleged further herein below.  

SILVER STATE reserves the right to amend its Complaint to include allegations of 
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infringement of additional patents owned by SILVER STATE based on the results of 

discovery in this matter. 

8. Upon information and belief, FOURSQUARE LABS does business and 

provides its system and services in this judicial district, and has committed acts of 

infringement in this judicial district. 

9. FOURSQUARE LABS has been aware of the ’165 patent since at least 

October 15, 2012, when FOURSQUARE LABS acknowledged receipt of the original 

Complaint filed herein, and likely as early as July 25, 2012, when the original Complaint was 

filed.  Accordingly, SILVER STATE’s claims for relief based upon allegations of indirect 

infringement are limited to the period after July 25, 2012, unless discovery reveals that 

FOURSQUARE LABS learned of the ’165 patent prior to that date. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Direct Infringement of the ‘165 Patent) 

10. SILVER STATE realleges and incorporates herein by reference the allegations 

stated in paragraphs 1-9 of this Complaint. 

11. Upon information and belief, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), 

FOURSQUARE LABS has directly infringed, and is continuing to directly infringe, one or 

more claims of the ’165 patent by providing its “foursquare” brand location-based social 

networking system in the United States, including, without limitation, at least direct 

infringement of Claim 1.  

12. For example, upon information and belief, FOURSQUARE LABS has directly 

infringed independent Claim 1 of the ’165 patent by carrying out the claimed method of: 

(a) “allocating a user-specific space in memory accessible over a computer network to a 

specific user,” for example, when foursquare users register for an account and provide 

information about themselves to foursquare; (b) “associating a mobile communication device 

with a user,” for example, when foursquare users register for an account the foursquare 

system associates the user’s smartphone to the user’s name and account; (c) “determining a 

geographic location of the user by receiving location information provided by the a mobile 
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communication device,” for example, when receiving the location of a user determined by the 

user’s smartphone when the user checks in to a location on foursquare; (d) “storing data 

indicative of the location of the user in the user-specific space,” for example, when storing 

the geographic location of a user who has checked into a location in the user-specific memory 

space; (e) “receiving, from the user, additional data regarding the user, the additional data 

being related to the geographic location of the user,” for example, when receiving a message 

from the user related to the location where the user is checked in, such as a recommendation 

about the location or what the user is doing at the location; (f) “storing the additional data 

regarding the user in the user-specific space,” for example, when storing the user’s 

recommendations about a location or what the user is doing at the location in the user-specific 

memory space; (g) “receiving from the user an access list of possible requesters of the data 

and the additional data,” for example, when foursquare users establish a list of friends with 

whom the user is willing to share his or her location information and recommendations about 

a location; (h) “storing the access list of possible requesters of the data and the additional data 

in the user-specific space,” for example, when storing the user’s lists of friends in the user-

specific memory space; and (i) “providing the data indicative of the location of the user and 

the additional data regarding the user to possible requesters on the access list,” for example, 

when friends of the user are provided information about the user being at the same location as 

the friend or nearby, and the recommendations or other information that the user has provided 

related to his or her location.  

13. Upon information and belief, FOURSQUARE LABS’s infringement of the 

’165 patent has been, and will continue to be, willful and deliberate, making this case an 

exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. § 285, because FOURSQUARE LABS has failed to allege 

any factual basis in support of a good faith defense that it does not infringe the ’165 patent, or 

that the ’165 patent is invalid.  For example, in response to the original Complaint filed 

herein, FOURSQUARE LABS specifically requested that SILVER STATE provide more 

detailed infringement allegations.  Despite SILVER STATE providing more detailed 

infringement allegations in the Amended Complaint filed herein, FOURSQUARE LABS 
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simply denied the detailed allegations of each paragraph of the Amended Complaint without 

any explanation, and provided only cursory counterclaims, which lack any substantive 

allegations as to noninfringement or invalidity.  Accordingly, FOURSQUARE LABS’s 

answer and counterclaims for non-infringement and invalidity fail to allege any factual basis 

in support of a good faith defense that FOURSQUARE LABS does not infringe or that the 

’165 patent is invalid.  Therefore, upon information and belief, no objectively reasonable 

basis exists that FOURSQUARE LABS is not willfully infringing the ’165 patent.    

14. As a direct and proximate result of FOURSQUARE LABS’s direct willful 

infringement of the ’165 patent, SILVER STATE has been and continues to be damaged. 

15. SILVER STATE has been and will continue to be irreparably harmed by 

FOURSQUARE LABS’s direct infringement of the ’165 patent unless enjoined by this Court. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Induced Infringement of the ’165 Patent) 

16. SILVER STATE realleges and incorporates herein by reference the allegations 

stated in paragraphs 1-15 of this Complaint. 

17. Upon information and belief, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b), 

FOURSQUARE LABS has indirectly infringed, and is continuing to indirectly infringe, one 

or more claims of the ‘165 patent by providing its “foursquare” brand location-based social 

networking system in the United States, including, without limitation, at least indirect 

infringement of Claim 2 of the ‘165 patent. 

18. For example, upon information and belief, since at least July 25, 2012, 

FOURSQUARE LABS has knowingly indirectly infringed independent Claim 2 of the ’165 

patent by inducing users of the foursquare system to directly infringe Claim 2 by using or 

putting into service the claimed system comprising: (a) “a personal communication device 

(PCD) comprising a GPS receiver and wireless communication capability,” for example, the 

user’s smartphone; (b) “a GPS server receiving information indicating a geographic location 

and a unique identifier associated with the PCD, the GPS server providing the PCD location 

and the unique identifier associated with the PCD to an application server,” for example, the 
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foursquare servers that process the location data received from the user when he or she 

checks into a location; (c) “the application server configured to execute a program upon 

receiving the geographic location and the unique identifier information associated with the 

PCD to update a user specific data space with a current geographic location and the unique 

identifier associated with the PCD,” for example, the foursquare servers that process the 

location data received from the user when he or she checks into a location to update the 

information in the user specific data space; (d) “the application server further configured to 

allow different users different access to the application server based on the identity of a user,” 

for example, the foursquare servers that only allow the user’s location and other information 

provided by the user to be shared with the friends of the user and no other users of the 

foursquare system; (e) “wherein the application server is further configured to store 

information received from and concerning an individual associated with the PCD in the user 

specific data space, the stored information in the user specific data space including an access 

list of possible requesters of information concerning the individual associated with the PCD, 

the access list being received from the individual associated with the PCD,” for example, the 

foursquare servers that are configured to store the information about a user in the user 

specific data space including the user’s list of friends that have access to the user’s location; 

and (f) “wherein the information stored in the user specific data space includes additional 

information related to the geographic location of the individual associated with the PCD,” for 

example, the foursquare servers that are configured to store the user’s recommendations 

about a location or what the user is doing at the location in the user specific data space. 

19. Additionally, for example, upon information and belief, FOURSQUARE 

LABS, having knowledge of the ’165 patent and the content of its claims since at least July 

25, 2012, intended to induce infringement of at least Claim 2 of the ‘165 patent by continuing 

to provide within the United States the foursquare system constituting a material part of the 

claimed system of Claim 2, e.g., all of the components of Claim 2 other than the personal 

communication device, and continuing to induce users of the foursquare system to directly 

infringe Claim 2.  FOURSQUARE LABS, having knowledge of the ’165 patent, continues to 
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promote its infringing system on its website.  FOURSQUARE LABS provides the foursquare 

system which includes items (b) – (f) as set forth in paragraph 18.  FOURSQUARE LABS 

further promotes its mobile application (“app”), which FOURSQUARE LABS intends for use 

on a user’s personal communication device.  FOURSQUARE LABS provides instructions 

and links to download the foursquare app on iPhone, Android phones, Blackberry phones, 

and others on its website.  See, https://foursquare.com/download, accessed October 1, 2013, a 

screenshot of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B.  A majority of iPhones, Android phones 

and Blackberry phones are GPS-enabled personal communication devices.  Foursquare 

answers the question “What is Foursquare,” on its website, saying: 

[f]oursquare is a free app that helps you and your friends make the most of 

where you are. When you're out and about, use Foursquare to share and 

save the places you visit. And, when you're looking for inspiration for 

what to do next, we'll give you personalized recommendations and deals 

based on where you, your friends, and people with your tastes have been. 

https://foursquare.com/about, accessed October 1, a screenshot of which is attached hereto as 

Exhibit C.  By its own definition, FOURSQUARE LABS intends to induce users to download 

the foursquare app to their mobile phones, and use their mobile phones to check-in places and 

provide location specific and other information to the foursquare system.  FOURSQUARE 

LABS also prominently features the request “Join over 40 million people using our app to 

keep up and meet up with friends,” and boasts “over 4.5 billion check-ins, with millions more 

every day.”  https://foursquare.com/, accessed October 1, a screenshot of which is attached 

hereto as Exhibit D; https://foursquare.com/about.  Since FOURSQUARE LABS has known 

of the ’165 patent since at least July 25, 2013, and because FOURSQUARE LABS 

specifically promotes its mobile app and encourages users to check-in and use the foursquare 

system via users’ personal communication devices, FOURSQUARE LABS has manifested a 

probable intent to induce infringement of the ’165 patent, and accordingly has induced, and 

continues to actively induce infringement of at least Claim 2 of the ’165 patent. 

/ / /      
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20. Upon information and belief, FOURSQUARE LABS’s induced infringement 

of the ’165 patent has been, and will continue to be, willful and deliberate, making this case 

an exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. § 285, because FOURSQARE LABS has failed to allege 

any factual basis in support of a good faith defense that it does not induce infringement of the 

‘165 patent, or that the ’165 patent is invalid.     

21. As a direct and proximate result of FOURSQUARE LABS’s willful induced 

infringement of the ’165 patent, SILVER STATE has been and continues to be damaged. 

22. SILVER STATE has been and will continue to be irreparably harmed by 

FOURSQUARE LABS’s induced infringement of the ’165 patent unless enjoined by this 

Court. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Contributory Infringement of the ‘165 Patent) 

23. SILVER STATE realleges and incorporates herein by reference the allegations 

stated in paragraphs 1-22 of this Complaint. 

24. Upon information and belief, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c), 

FOURSQUARE LABS has contributorily infringed, and is continuing to contributorily 

infringe, one or more claims of the ’165 patent by providing its “foursquare” brand location-

based social networking system in the United States, including, without limitation, at least 

contributory infringement of Claim 2. 

25. For example, upon information and belief, since at least October 15, 2012, and 

likely earlier, FOURSQUARE LABS has knowingly contributorily infringed independent 

Claim 2 of the ’165 patent by providing within the United States the foursquare system 

constituting a material part of the claimed system of Claim 2, e.g., all of the components of 

Claim 2 other than the personal communication device, as the foursquare system has been 

described herein above in paragraphs 12 and 18, knowing the same to be especially made or 

especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ’165 patent, and not a staple article or 

commodity of commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing use absent combination with a 

personal communication device.   
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26. Additionally, upon information and belief, the components provided by 

FOURSQUARE LABS to enable the foursquare service whereby a user “checks in” at a 

particular location using a personal communication device and provides additional 

information related to the geographic location of the individual associated with the personal 

communication device, as described in paragraphs 12 and 18 above, have no substantial non-

infringing uses absent combination with the user’s personal communication device.  The 

foursquare system, as described above in paragraphs 12 and 18, is dependent on users’ use of 

personal communications and check-ins in order to provide the features of the foursquare 

system.  As described in paragraph 19 above, Foursquare defines itself as “a free app that 

helps you and your friends make the most of where you are.  When you are out and about, use 

Foursquare to share and save the places you visit.”  Ex. C.  FOURSQUARE LABS wants 

users to download and use the foursquare app on users’ personal communication devices.  See 

Ex. B.  FOURSQUARE LABS provides “window clings” for businesses to put up at their 

business establishments which encourage users to check-in, which is done using a personal 

communication device. http://support.foursquare.com/entries/21754438-Can-I-get-a-window-

cling-, accessed Oct. 1, 2013, a screenshot of which is attached hereto as Exhibit E.  The 

entire foursquare system relies on users using their personal communication devices.  For 

example, FOURSQUARE LABS states on its blog,  

“The idea behind Foursquare has always been that, someday, hundreds of 

millions of people will carry software in their pocket that lets them know 

when friends are nearby. . . With over 4 billion check-ins, our location 

accuracy has hugely improved. With more than 32 million tips, you’ve 

told us about great things worth discovering all around the world.  . . 

Because it’s [foursquare] powered by billions of check-ins, it’s also smart 

. . . .” 

http://blog.foursquare.com/, accessed Oct. 2, 2013, a screenshot of which is attached hereto 

as Exhibit F. Therefore, the foursquare system is entirely built on users using personal 

communication devices.  Without the use of personal communication devices and check-
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ins, the foursquare system would lose its key feature, be useless, and have no substantial 

non-infringing uses.  Therefore, the components provided by FOURSQUARE LABS to 

enable the foursquare check in service have no substantial, non-infringing uses other than 

to perform the claimed invention of the ’165 patent. 

27. Upon information and belief, FOURSQUARE LABS’s contributory 

infringement of the ’165 patent has been, and will continue to be, willful and deliberate, 

making this case an exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. § 285, because FOURSQUARE LABS 

has failed to allege any factual basis in support of a good faith defense that it does not 

contributorily infringe the ’165 patent, or that the ’165 patent is invalid.       

28. As a direct and proximate result of FOURSQUARE LABS’s willful 

contributory infringement of the ’165 patent, SILVER STATE has been and continues to be 

damaged. 

29. SILVER STATE has been and will continue to be irreparably harmed by 

FOURSQUARE LABS’s contributory infringement of the ’165 patent unless enjoined by this 

Court. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff SILVER STATE prays for relief as follows: 

 A. That FOURSQUARE LABS be adjudged to have directly infringed the ’165 

patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(a); 

 B. That FOURSQUARE LABS be adjudged to have induced infringement the ’165 

patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b); 

 C. That FOURSQUARE LABS be adjudged to have contributorily infringed the 

’165 patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c); 

 D. That FOURSQUARE LABS, its subsidiaries, affiliates, officers, agents, 

servants, employees and attorneys, and all those persons in active concert or participation with 

any of them be permanently restrained and enjoined under 35 U.S.C. § 283 from directly and 

indirectly infringing the ’165 patent; 

/ / / 
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 E. That the Court award Plaintiff SILVER STATE recovery of damages to 

compensate it for FOURSQUARE LABS’s infringement of SILVER STATE’s patent as 

alleged herein, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

 F. That FOURSQUARE LABS be adjudged to have willfully infringed the ’165 

patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271, and that the Court treble the amount of actual damages pursuant to 

35 U.S.C. § 284; 

 G. That this action be adjudged an exceptional case, and that the Court award 

SILVER STATE its reasonable attorney’s fees incurred in this action, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 

§ 285; 

 H. That the Court order FOURSQUARE LABS to provide an accounting and to 

pay supplemental damages to SILVER STATE, including without limitation pre-judgment and 

post-judgment interest, and costs of suit herein pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284; and 

 I. That Plaintiff SILVER STATE have such other and further relief as this Court 

may deem just and proper. 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 
 KNOBBE, MARTENS, OLSON & BEAR, LLP 
 
 
Dated:     October 4, 2013  By: s/ Frederick S. Berretta  
 Frederick S. Berretta (pro hac vice) 
 Peter Law (pro hac vice)  
 
 and 
 
 MCDONALD CARANO WILSON LLP 
 
 Andrew P. Gordon 
 Jeffrey A. Silvestri 
  
 Attorneys for Plaintiff 

SILVER STATE INTELLECTUAL 
TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
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DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

 Plaintiff SILVER STATE hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 
 KNOBBE, MARTENS, OLSON & BEAR, LLP 
 
 
Dated:        October 4, 2013  By: s/ Frederick S. Berretta  
 Frederick S. Berretta (pro hac vice) 
 Peter Law (pro hac vice)  
 
 and 
 
 MCDONALD CARANO WILSON LLP 
 
 Jeffrey A. Silvestri 
  
 Attorneys for Plaintiff 

SILVER STATE INTELLECTUAL 
TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 

 
 
 
 
 
14681040
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PROOF OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on October 4, 2013, I caused the THIRD AMENDED 

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT to be electronically filed with the Clerk 

of the Court using the CM/ECF system which will send electronic notification of such filing 

to the following person(s): 

 
Robert C. Ryan  

HOLLAND & HART LLP 
5441 Kietzke Lane, Second Floor 

Reno, Nevada 89511 
Phone:  (775) 327-3042 

Facsimile:  (775) 786-6179 
Email:  rcryan@hollandhart.com 

 
Christopher B. Hadley  

HOLLAND & HART LLP 
222 South Main Street, Suite 2200 

Salt Lake City, Utah  84101 
Telephone:  (801) 799-5800 
Facsimile:  (801) 799-5700 

Email:  cbhadley@hollandhart.com 

Craig R. Smith  
LANDO & ANASTASI, LLP 

One Main Street, Eleventh Floor 
Cambridge, MA  02142 
Phone: (617) 395-7000 

Facsimile: (617) 395-7070 
Email:  csmith@lalaw.com 

 
 

Executed on October 4, 2013, at Los Angeles, California. 

 
 
   
 Doreen P. Buluran 
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